COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CP-01824-COA

ALLEN HENDERSON

FILED

APPELLANT

V.

JUL 09 2010

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

BY: *Allen Henderson*
Allen Henderson., #N5175
EMCF
10641 Hwy. 80 West
Meridian, Ms 39307

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

PRO SE PRISONER BRIEF

RECEIVED
JUL 12 2010
BY: _____

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE

Appellant Allen Henderson has suffered a violation of his 5th and 14th Amendment rights under the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi where trial court imposed the maximum sentence allowed by statute for the offense in which plea was entered without having considered that there was no firm evidence to support that appellant actually killed Kayla Breann Polk and there was evidence which pointed to the possibility that Polk died as the result of an epileptic seizure. Moreover, the trial court failed to consider the mental condition of the appellant and the fact the circumstances surrounding the manner in which the crime was alleged to have occurred implied and indicated a diminished mental capacity of the appellant.

ISSUE TWO:

Appellant's guilty plea was an unknowing, involuntary and unintelligent waiver of fundamental rights, entered in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment due process of law clause;

ISSUE THREE:

Counsel for defense was ineffective in plain violation of the Sixth Amendment that is:

- a. Violations of the Fifth Amendment;
- b. Violation of Civil and Miranda Rights;

- c. Waiving the appellants right to a competency hearing and determination in violation of Rule 9.06 of Miss. Uniform Rules of County and Circuit Court.

ISSUE FOUR:

Appellant was subjected to a denial of due process of law where the trial court failed to advise Henderson of the correct law in regards to appealing a sentence rendered upon a plea of guilty to the Supreme Court. Appellant Henderson was never told that, under applicable law, “his sentence” could be directly appealed to the Supreme Court for direct review.

ISSUE FIVE:

The acceptance of the guilty plea entered in this case, wherein issues of competency have been raised pursuant to Rule 9.06, prior to the Court’s compliance with Rule 9.06, violates the provisions of Rule 9.06 of the Miss. Uniform Rules of County and Circuit Court practice.¹

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections and assigned to the East Mississippi Correctional Facility in Meridian, Mississippi, in service of the prison term imposed. Appellant has been continuously confined in regards to such sentence since date of conviction and imposition of sentence by trial court.

¹ **Rule 9.06 COMPETENCE TO STAND TRIAL**

If before or during trial the court, of its own motion or upon motion of an attorney, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, the court shall order the defendant to submit to a mental examination by some competent psychiatrist selected by the court in accordance with §99-13-11 of the Mississippi Code Annotated of 1972.

STATEMENT OF CASE

That on the 27th day of July, 2006, when I left Kayla Polk at the Super 8 Motel, Room 231, in Pearl, Mississippi, Polk was alive and well when I left this room. The baby was with Polk at that time.

That when I subsequently returned to the hotel some hours later Polk was dead on the floor.

I had hoped Polk was still alive so I checked Polk. She was, in fact, dead and there was nothing I could do for her. I went into a state of shock and after making several calls and realizing there was nothing I could do for Polk, I decided, after waiting approximately 5 hours, to carry her body to an area where it could be found.

I then took Polk's body and the baby to the Airport Road area, an area which is busily traveled, and left Polk's body and the baby in her car.

I realize that I moved the body, which was a mistake, but Polk was already dead when I arrived back at the motel room. I did not kill Polk and I instructed my attorney of this continuously.

My attorney instructed me that I should go ahead and plead guilty to manslaughter. Before giving this advice my attorney never completed an investigation of the medical history of Polk.

The room in which I found Polk in was not ram shacked as of there had been a robbery.

There was furniture broken in the room but this condition at the time I actually rented this room.

I pleaded guilty only because my attorney told me too. I was not guilty of killing Polk. The only guilt I share is that I moved the body after Polk was already dead and after I found her that way.

Although a witness, Beau Luke Doiron, told police he seen the victim get out of her car, on the day she was found dead, with a man weighting approximately 260 pounds, and approximately 6 feet tall, and that he heard a loud noise coming from the hotel room shortly after that, defense counsel never investigate this witness information. Even the police stated that this description.²

There was never a firm finding of the actual cause of death made that I am aware of.

I pleaded guilty to this crime only because my attorney advised me to and this plea was made over my objection. I am not guilty of any crime associated with the murder of Polk is she was, in fact, murdered. I am only guilty of moving the dead body and I did this because I panicked.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. Kirksey v State, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

In the instant case, well-settled law dictates tht the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous since the trial court never reached the merits of the fundamental due process claims advanced in the Post Conviction Motion but summarily denied motion on basis of Miss. Code

² The description provided by the witness did come closer to fitting the description of Winford Connerly, the estranged boyfriend of Polk. Winford was never questioned as suspect in the murder since he had an alibi for a portion of the time in which Polk could have been killed.

Ann. §99-39-5(2). This court has previously held that claims such as presented here constitutes and exception to such bar.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Allen Henderson's conviction, by a plea of guilty, is invalid where such conviction was reached by coerced information and advice from counsel. The trial court erred in failing to grant Henderson post conviction relief on the claims presented where the record supports Allen's claims.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA CONSTITUTED AN UNKNOWING, INVOLUNTARY, UNINTELLIGENT. AND COERCED WAIVER OF FUNDAMENTAL CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS, ENTERED IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT DUE PROCESS OF LAW CLAUSE.

After the examination the court shall conduct a hearing to determine if the defendant is competent to stand trial. After hearing all the evidence, the court shall weigh the evidence and make a determination of whether the defendant is competent to stand trial. If the court finds that the defendant is competent to stand trial, then the court shall make the finding a matter of record and the case will then proceed to trial. If the court finds that the defendant is incompetent to stand trial, then the court shall commit the defendant to the Mississippi State Hospital or other appropriate mental health facility. The order of commitment shall require that the defendant be examined and a written report be furnished to the court every four calendar months, stating:

A. Whether there is a substantial probability that the defendant will become mentally competent to stand trial within the foreseeable future; and

B. Whether progress toward that goal is being made.

The defendant's attorney, as the defendant's representative, shall not waive any hearing authorized by this rule, but is authorized to consent, on behalf of the defendant, to necessary surgical or medical treatment and procedures. If at any time during such commitment, the court decides, after a hearing, that the defendant is competent to stand trial, it shall enter its order so finding and declaring the defendant competent to stand trial, after which the court shall proceed to trial.

If at any time during such commitment, the proper official at the Mississippi State Hospital or other appropriate mental health facility shall consider that the defendant is competent to stand trial, such official shall promptly notify the court of that effect in writing, and place the

defendant in the custody of the sheriff. The court shall then proceed to conduct a hearing on the competency of the defendant to stand trial. If the court finds the defendant is not competent to stand trial, it shall order the defendant committed as provided above. If the court finds the defendant is competent to stand trial, then the case shall proceed to trial.

If within a reasonable period of time after commitment under the provisions of this rule, there is neither a determination that there is substantial probability that the defendant will become mentally competent to stand trial nor progress toward that goal, the judge shall order that civil proceedings as provided in § § 41-21-61 to 41-21-107 of the Mississippi Code of 1972 be instituted.

Said proceedings shall proceed notwithstanding that the defendant has criminal charges pending against him/her. The defendant shall remain in custody until determination of the civil proceedings.

Appellant aver that he entered a guilty plea because of fear on the information provided to him by his attorney, in direct violation of Rule 8.04(A)(3) of the Uniform Rules of circuit Court Practice. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709 (1969). Appellant states that he was not mentally nor emotionally stable and competent to make the decision to plead guilty and that his attorney applied pressure to secure the pleas of guilty which should have been rejected by the court when petitioner demonstrated unwillingness during the plea colloquy and in response to questions asked by the court.

In Boykin v. Alabama, the Court stated:

"Against this background, the Court holds that the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment requires the outright reversal of petitioner's conviction. This result is wholly unprecedented. There are past holdings of this Court to the effect that a federal habeas corpus petitioner who makes sufficiently credible allegations that his state guilty plea was involuntary is entitled to a hearing as to the truth of those allegations. See, e. g., Waley v. Johnston, 316 U.S. 101 (1942); cf. Machibroda v. United States, 368 U.S. 487 (1962). These holdings suggest that if equally convincing allegations were made in a petition for certiorari on direct review, the petitioner might in some circumstances be Page 247 entitled to have a judgment of affirmance vacated and the case remanded for a state hearing on voluntariness. Cf. Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 293-394 (1964). However, as has been noted, this petitioner makes no allegations of actual involuntariness. "

If the plea of guilty entered in this case by Henderson was involuntary as defined by existing law, then not only the Petitioner's sentence, but also his guilty plea, must be vacated. This is true even though Henderson only sought to vacate his sentences and

did not specifically seek to vacate his guilty plea. See Courtney v. State, 704 So.2d 1352 (Miss. App. 1997), citing Stevenson v. State, 506 (Miss. 1996); Patterson v. State, 969 (Miss. 1995).

ISSUE TWO

COUNSEL FOR DEFENSE WAS INEFFECTIVE IN PLAIN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AMENDMENT, THAT IS, (A) VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH AMENDMENT AND (B) VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS AND MIRANDA RIGHTS

Appellant contends that his attorney, Barnett, convinced him that he should plead guilty and that if he did not he would be convicted and imprisoned for a long period of time. Appellant would assert that he was not competent to enter such plea and that his attorney never sought the appropriate tests, investigation, findings, consultation with witnesses, and investigation of likely suspects such as the estranged boyfriend of the victim Polk, and mental qualifications of petitioner before advising a plea of guilty.

Under URCCC 8.04(A)(3), "before the trial court may accept a plea of guilty, the court must determine that the plea is voluntarily and intelligently made and that there is factual basis for the plea." In Corley v. State, 585 So.2d 765, 767 (Miss. 1991), the Supreme Court of Mississippi discussed Rule 3.03(2), Miss. Unif. Crim. R Cir. Ct. Pract. (1979, as amended), requiring that the trial court have before it "... substantial evidence that the accused did commit the legally defined offense to which he is offering the plea." See, e.g., Sykes v. State, 533 So.2d 1118, 1124 (Miss. 1988); Reynolds v. State, 521 So.2d 914, 917 (Miss. 1988).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has long recognized that the courts of the State of Mississippi are open to those incarcerated at Mississippi Correctional facilities and Institutions³ raising questions regarding the voluntariness of their pleas of guilty to criminal offenses or the duration of confinement. Hill v. State, 388 So.2d 143, 146 (Miss.1980); Watts v. Lucas, 394 So.2d 903 (Miss. 1981); Ball v. State, 437 So.2d 423, 425 (Miss. 1983); Tiller v. State, 440 So.2d 1001, 1004-05 (Miss. 1983). This case represents one such instance.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has continuously recognized that a plea of guilty may be challenged for voluntariness by way of the Mississippi Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Appellant Henderson was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel where his attorney, representing him during the plea and sentencing proceedings, advised Henderson to plead guilty openly to manslaughter and child abandonment when there was evidence supporting a conclusion that Polk expired as a result of an psychogenic elliptic seizure. Defense counsel never investigated the medical history of Polk before advising petitioner to plead guilty. Defense counsel never pursued the evidence that there was no strangulation marks on the neck of Polk to substantiate that Polk actually was strangled and that the marks on Polks neck confirmed a bruise which indicated that such resulted from a fall rather than being strangled.⁴ Defense counsel never investigated Henderson's case before simply

³While the Mississippi Supreme Court specified "Inmates at the Mississippi State Penitentiary", it is clear that this decision would apply to any inmate confined within or without the State of Mississippi who has been subjected to a Mississippi conviction and sentence which they desire to attack collaterally.

⁴ The State, because of the lack of evidence of murder, mainly the lack of any evidence of strangulation, would not pursue the murder charge. Counsel mislead petitioner to plead guilty to manslaughter when there was actually no

advising Henderson to plead guilty to murder. Henderson continued to tell his attorney that he did not kill Polk and that she was alone when he left the room but was deceased when he returned. Henderson was guilty of nothing except moving a dead body which is why the state indicted Henderson for tampering with evidence but dropped the charge after defense counsel was able to manipulate petitioner plead guilty to manslaughter. Mr. Barnett's assistance was less than adequate since had he been functioning properly as an attorney, Henderson's plea would not have been made to manslaughter.

In Jackson v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Miss. 2002) (No. 2000-KA-01195-SCT), the Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:

Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. Hiter v. State, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss.1995).

Anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

In Ward v. State, ___ So.2d ___ (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

Effective assistance of counsel contemplates counsel's familiarity with the law that controls his client's case. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689 (1984) (noting that counsel has a duty to bring to bear such skill and knowledge as will render the trial reliable); see also Herring v. Estelle, 491 F.2d 125, 128 (5th Cir. 1974) (stating that a lawyer who is not familiar with the facts and law relevant to the client's case cannot meet the constitutionally required level of effective assistance of counsel in the course of entering a guilty plea as analyzed under a test identical to the first prong of the Strickland analysis); Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964, 969 (Miss. 1985) (explaining that the basic duties of criminal defense attorneys include the duty to advocate the defendant's case; remanding for consideration of claim of ineffectiveness where the defendant alleged that his attorney did not know the relevant law).

evidence of manslaughter and the state never proved any elements of manslaughter. Dr. Steven Haynes opinion was inclusive as to whether the cause of death was strangulation. Such report did not state for sure that the death was caused by such actions.

In the instant case, Additionally, defense counsel failed to know the law in regards to applying for competency examination and proceedings where the defendant has exhibited unusual and erratic behavior which may be evident that the defendant is suffering from mental problems. Defense counsel had an obligation to make this motion and secure this examination where Henderson had been charged with murder and child abandonment. Failure to take such action constituted ineffective assistance of counsel.

To successfully claim ineffective assistance of counsel, the defendant must meet the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984). This test has also been recognized and adopted by the Mississippi Supreme Court. Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1173 (Miss. 1992); Knight v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); Henderson v. State, 577 So.2d 840, 841 (Miss. 1991); McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990); Waldrop v. State, 506 So.2d 273, 275 (Miss. 1987), aff'd after remand, 544 So.2d 834 (Miss. 1989); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476 (Miss. 1984), cert. denied, 469 U.S. 1230 (1985).

The Mississippi Supreme Court visited this issue in the decision of Smith v. State, 631 So.2d 778, 782 (Miss. 1984). The Strickland test requires a showing of (1) deficiency of counsel's performance which is, (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice to the defense. McQuarter 506 So.2d at 687. The burden to demonstrate the two prongs is on the defendant. Id; Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1994), *reversed in part, affirmed in part*, 539 So.2d 1378 (Miss. 1989), and he faces a strong rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance falls within the broad spectrum of reasonable professional assistance. McQuarter, 574 So.2d at 687; Waldrop, 506 So.2d at 275; Gilliard v. State, 462 So.2d 710, 714 (Miss. 1985). The defendant must show that there

is a reasonable probability that for him attorney's errors, defendant would have received a different result. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992); Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984), the United States Supreme Court held as follows:

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