IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ALLEN HENDERSON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-CP-1824

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's dismissal of the Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief should be affirmed as the record supports the trial court's dismissal. The Appellant's sentences are within the statutory guidelines and are therefore, valid and legal. Additionally the record evidences that his plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made and the Appellant was fully advised of all his rights as required by law.

The Appellant did not establish that he was denied effective assistance of counsel. He wholly failed to meet the two-prong test of *Strickland* and indicated that he was satisfied with his counsel's representation in both his Petition to Enter a Guilty Plea and at his guilty plea hearing. Further, the

Appellant was not entitled to a competency hearing.

ARGUMENT

The trial court's denial of a motion for post-conviction relief should not be reversed <u>"absent</u> a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous." *Crowell v. State*, 801 So.2d 747, 749 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *Kirksey v. State*, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999)) (*emphasis added*). The trial court's dismissal of the Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief was not clearly erroneous for the reasons set forth below.

I. THE APPELLANT'S SENTENCES ARE LEGAL.

The Appellant first argues that he "has suffered a violation of his 5th and 14th Amendment rights under the United States Constitution as well as the Constitution of the State of Mississippi where trial court imposed the maximum sentence allowed by the statute for the offense in which plea was entered without having considered that there was no firm evidence to support that Appellant actually killed Kayla Brenn Polk and there was evidence which pointed to the possibility that Polk died as a result of an epileptic seizure." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). "Sentencing is within the complete discretion of the trial court and not subject to appellate review if it is within the limits prescribed by statute." *Gibson v. State*, 731 So.2d 1087, 1097 (Miss. 1998) (citing *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 537 (Miss.1996)). The Appellant was convicted of manslaughter and sentenced pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §97-3-25 which reads as follows:

Any person convicted of manslaughter shall be fined in a sum not less than five hundred dollars, or imprisoned in the county jail not more than one year, or both, or in the penitentiary not less than two years, nor more than twenty years.

The Appellant was sentenced to serve twenty years on this charge which is within the statutory guidelines. He was also convicted of child abandonment and sentenced pursuant to Miss Code Ann §97-5-1 which states that the maximum sentence for such conviction is seven years. The Appellant

was sentenced to seven years with five suspended and two to serve on this charge. That sentence is also within the statutory guidelines. Accordingly, the Appellant's sentences are valid and legal.

II. THE APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WAS KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLIGENTLY GIVEN.

The Appellant next argues that his "guilty plea was an unknowing, involuntary and unintelligent wavier of fundamental rights, entered in violation of the Fourteenth Amendment due process of law clause." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). "The question of whether a plea was voluntarily and knowingly made is a question of fact" and "[t]he petitioner bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to relief." *Davis v. State*, 758 So.2d 463, 466 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (citing *McClendon v. State*, 539 So.2d 1375, 1377 (Miss.1989)).

In order for a guilty plea to be deemed voluntary, the defendant must be advised of the nature of the charges against him and understand the consequences of entering a guilty plea, including the minimum and maximum penalties he faces. White v. State, 921 So.2d 402, 405 (¶9) (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) (citing Alexander v. State, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992); URCCC 8.04(A)(4)(b)). The transcript of the guilty plea hearing and the Petition to Enter Guilty Plea clearly illustrate that the Appellant was informed of the nature of the charges against him and their consequences. For example, the following statement was made in his Petition to Enter a Guilty Plea:

- 6. My attorney has counseled and advised me on the nature and elements of the charge, on any and all lesser-included charges and on all possible defenses that I might have in this case. My attorney advises me and I understand that the elements of the charge to which I am pleading are as follows: killing of a human being without malice not in necessary self defense also abandoning a 9 month old child.
- 7. I wish to plead guilty and request the court to accept my plea of guilty on the basis of the following: on the date(s) set forth in the indictment or bill of information, I did, in Rankin County Mississippi, willfully, unlawfully, feloniously kill without malice Kayla Polk (best interest plea) and abandon a 9 month old child.
- 8. I know that if I plead guilty to this charge, the sentence may be 2 years (minimum) to 20 years (maximum) incarceration . . . child abandonment 0

(minimum) to 7 years (maximum)....

(Record p. 81) (parts in italics were handwritten). Additionally, the following testimony was given during the plea hearing:

THE COURT: With respect to count one, and the charge of manslaughter,

those elements are on or about July 27, 2006, in Rankin County, Mississippi, you did willfully, unlawfully, feloniously kill a human being Kayla Brianne Polk, without malice, in the heat of passion, but in a cruel or unusual manner, not in necessary self defense. Do you understand those elements?

THE APPELLANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: With respect to count two, those elements are on or about July

27, 2006, in Rankin County, Mississippi, you did unlawfully, feloniously, purposefully and knowingly abandon Kealya Polk, a female child who was nine months old at the time, leaving said child in a vehicle with her deceased mother. Do

you understand those elements?

THE APPELLANT: Yes, sir.

(Record p. 100). The Appellant was also advised of the rights he would be waiving when pleading guilty. (Record p. 100 - 101). He was further advised of the minimum and maximum sentences he faced with regard to both counts. (Record p. 101 - 103). The State stated the following when asked for the factual basis for the pleas:

On count one, the Pearl Police Department was notified on the 28th day of July, 2006, by a custodian of a day care, that he had found a body in a vehicle, which was parked at the day care. The Pearl Police Department responded, and that body was later identified as Kayla Polk. The Pearl Police Department then contacted the Simpson County authorities, as Ms. Polk resided in Simpson County. In talking with the friends of Ms. Polk, authorities were able to determine that on the weekend of her death, that she had spent time with Mr. Henderson. Officers then began to search local hotels and determine that Mr. Henderson and Ms. Polk had checked into a hotel room in Pearl, Mr. Henderson was arrested. Ms. Polk, an autopsy was performed. Dr. Steven Hayne said that this case was consistent with strangulation. Mr. Henderson did admit to being with Ms. Polk and admitted to moving the body, but he denied that he was actually the individual who did in fact strangle and kill Ms. Polk. . . . Judge in count two, again on the 28th day of July, at a time in which Ms. Polk's body was found in her vehicle, which was located there at the daycare, also found in the vehicle was Ms. Polk's minor child, who was nine months old, at the age of the time in which she was left. She was left alone in the vehicle with her deceased mother, being Ms. Kayla Polk. Again, officers were able to determine through their investigation, and with help from the Simpson County authorities, that Mr. Henderson was in fact the individual who loaded Ms. Polk up in the vehicle, as well as Ms. Polk's child. He then abandoned the child there in the car, and the child was discovered later the next day on the 28th of July, again, by the same custodian who had come to work that day.

(Record p. 104 - 105). Both the Appellant and his attorney stated on the record that they had no disagreement with the factual basis as given by the State. (Record p. 105 - 106).

The Appellant did enter what is commonly referred to as an Alford plea or a "best interest plea" with regard to the manslaughter charge. "An Alford plea allows a defendant to avoid the risk of conviction at trial by pleading guilty without admitting to actual guilt of the crime charged." In re Shelton, 987 So.2d 938, 939 (Miss. 2008). This Court noted in Bush v. State, that the United State Supreme Court previously "found no constitutional error in accepting a guilty plea despite a protestation of innocence, when the defendant knowingly and intelligently concluded that his best interests required entry of a guilty plea and the trial judge made a determination on the record that there was strong evidence of actual guilt." 922 So.2d 802, 805 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (citing North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970)). As noted by this Court in McNickles v. State, when there is an Alford plea, the defendant is not required to admit that he actually committed the crime, but instead "it is sufficient that [the defendant] was aware of the charge against him and the proof to be offered by the State. 979 So.2d 693, 697 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). The record evidences that the Appellant was aware of the charges against him and the proof that the State planned to offer as shown above. There was also evidence that he concluded that it was in his best interest to plead guilty:

THE COURT:

With respect to count one and the manslaughter charge, are you pleading guilty because you believe that based on the evidence the State would present at trial, the probability of your conviction is more likely than your acquittal, and you wish to take advantage of the plea bargain offered by the

State?

THE APPELLANT: Yes, sir.

(Record p. 106). "Solemn declarations in open court carry a strong presumption of verity." *Truitt* v. State, 958 So.2d 299, 301 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Harris v. State*, 806 So.2d 1127 (Miss. 2002)). As such, the record fully establishes that the Appellant's plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently given.

III. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

The Appellant also argues that his counsel was "ineffective in plain violation of the Sixth Amendment." (Appellant's Brief p. 4). The standard of review for such claims is as follows:

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are judged by the standard in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). The two-part test set out in *Strickland* is whether counsel's performance was deficient and, if so, whether the deficiency prejudiced the defendant to the point that "our confidence in the correctness of the outcome is undermined." *Neal v. State*, 525 So.2d 1279, 1281 (Miss.1987). . . . A strong but rebuttable presumption exists that "counsel's conduct falls within a broad range of reasonable professional assistance." *McQuarter v. State*, 574 So.2d 685, 687 (Miss.1990). To overcome this presumption, the defendant must show that "but for" the deficiency a different result would have occurred. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.

Richardson v. State, 769 So.2d 230, 234 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) (emphasis added). In the case at hand, the Appellant's claim that he received ineffective assistance of counsel fails for three reasons.

First, he wholly failed to meet the requirements of *Strickland* set forth above in that he failed to show how the outcome would have been different but for his counsel's assistance. With regard to the second prong of the *Strickland* test, the Appellant simply argued that his counsel's representation prejudiced his "guilty plea in such a way as to mandate a reversal of the plea as well as the sentence imposed." (Appellant's Brief p. 24). A blanket assertion that the outcome would have been different but for counsel's representation, without explanation, is simply not enough to

meet the above referenced standard.

Secondly, the Appellant failed to meet the first prong of *Strickland* as well. The Appellant alleges that his counsel was deficient in that he "convinced him that he should plead guilty and that if he did not he would be convicted and imprisoned for a long period of time." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). However, the Petition to Enter a Guilty Plea and transcript of the guilty plea hearing rebut this allegation:

4. My attorney has advised me as to the possibilities of my acquittal or conviction on the charge against me, and has thoroughly discussed all aspects of my case with me. My attorney has counseled and advised me, and has made no threats or promises of any type or kind to induce me to enter this plea of guilty. The decision to seek entry of this plea was mine alone, based on my own reasons, and free from any outside influences.

(Record p. 82 - 83)

THE COURT:

After your discussions with your attorney, are you the one that

decided to plead guilty?

THE APPELLANT:

ANT: Yes, sir.

THE COURT:

Are you telling the court that you're freely and voluntarily

admitting your guilt to the crime you are pleading guilty to?

THE APPELLANT: Yes, sir.

(Record p. 106).

THE COURT:

But I just want to make sure that you want to do it, and I think

you do. I think you're just a little confused. But I want the

record to be very clear that nobody is forcing you to do this?

THE APPELLANT: Absolutely not.

(Record p. 114). He also argues that his counsel was deficient in failing to fully investigate the crime. He specifically contends that "he was not competent to enter such plea and that his attorney never sought the appropriate tests, investigation, findings, consultation with witnesses, and investigation of likely suspects such as the estranged boyfriend of the victim Polk, and mental qualifications of petitioner before advising a plea of guilty." (Appellant's Brief p. 10). He further

contends that his counsel "never investigated the medical history of Polk before advising petitioner to plead guilty." (Appellant's Brief p. 11). "While counsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations, they do not, by any means, have to be completely exhaustive." Shorter v. State, 946 So.2d 815, 820 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (citing Wiley v. State, 517 So.2d 1373, 1379 (Miss. 1987)). "Counsel's decisions in this area along with trial strategy are given a large measure of deference." Id. Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court has held that "a defendant who alleges that trial counsel's failure to investigate constituted ineffectiveness must also state with particularity what the investigations would have revealed and specify how it would have altered the outcome of trial or how such additional investigations would have significantly aided his cause at trial." Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 775 (Miss. 1995) (emphasis added). The Appellant's Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief does not state with any kind of particularity what the investigations he claims his counsel should have undertaken would have revealed or how they would have significantly altered his case. He only makes vague assertions with no evidence to back them up. Furthermore, the Mississippi Supreme Court "has implicitly recognized in the post-conviction relief context that where a party offers only his affidavit, then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit." Vielee v. State, 653 So.2d 920, 922 (Miss. 1995)(quoting Brooks v. State, 573 So.2d 1350, 1354 (Miss. 1990)).

Finally, when asked during his guilty plea whether he was satisfied with his counsel's representation, he stated that he was. (Record p. 107). As noted above, "great weight is given to statements made under oath and in open court during sentencing." *Ward v. State*, 879 So.2d 452, 455 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003) (quoting *Gable v. State*, 748 So.2d 703, 706 (Miss. 1999)). If the Appellant had any misgivings or questions about his counsel's representation of him or about his case in general he could have voiced them during this hearing. In fact, the trial court gave him that

exact opportunity:

THE COURT:

Are you satisfied with your attorney's representation of you?

THE APPELLANT:

Yes, sir.

THE COURT:

Do you have any complaints you wish to make about him?

THE APPELLANT: No. sir.

(Record p. 107). Moreover, the Petition to Enter a Plea of Guilty, which the Appellant admits that he signed, states as follows:

I believe that my attorney has done all that anyone could do to counsel and assist me. I am satisfied with the advice and counsel he has given me. . . .

(Record p. 83). "Similar to sworn statements made before the court, [guilty plea petitions] may be used to discredit post-plea allegations." Madden v. State, 991 So.2d 1231, 1235 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008).

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